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in the Investment Company Act of 1940
(15 U.S.C. 80-1 et seq.);

(7) To the Commissioner of Customs
and Border Protection with respect to
§§1010.340 and 1010.830;

(8) To the Commissioner of Internal
Revenue with respect to all financial
institutions, except brokers or dealers
in securities, mutual funds, futures
commission merchants, introducing
brokers in commodities, and com-
modity trading advisors, not currently
examined by Federal bank supervisory
agencies for soundness and safety; and

(9) To the Commodity Futures Trad-
ing Commission with respect to futures
commission merchants, introducing
brokers in commodities, and com-
modity trading advisors.

(c) Authority for investigating crimi-
nal violations of this chapter is dele-
gated as follows:

(1) To the Commissioner of Customs
and Border Protection with respect to
§1010.340;

(2) To the Commissioner of Internal
Revenue except with respect to
§1010.340.

(d) Authority for the imposition of
civil penalties for violations of this
chapter lies with the Director of
FinCEN.

(e) Periodic reports shall be made to
the Director, FinCEN by each agency
to which compliance authority has
been delegated under paragraph (b) of
this section. These reports shall be in
such a form and submitted at such in-
tervals as the Director, FinCEN may
direct. Evidence of specific violations
of any of the requirements of this chap-
ter may be submitted to the Director,
FinCEN at any time.

(f) The Director, FinCEN or his dele-
gate, and any agency to which compli-
ance has been delegated under para-
graph (b) of this section, may examine
any books, papers, records, or other
data of domestic financial institutions
relevant to the recordkeeping or re-
porting requirements of this chapter.

(g) The authority to enforce the pro-
visions of 31 U.S.C. 5314 and §§1010.350
and 1010.420 of this chapter has been re-
delegated from FinCEN to the Commis-
sioner of Internal Revenue by means of
a Memorandum of Agreement between
FinCEN and IRS. Such authority in-
cludes, with respect to 31 U.S.C. 5314

§1010.820

and 1010.350 and 1010.420 of this chapter,
the authority to: assess and collect
civil penalties under 31 U.S.C. 5321 and
31 CFR 1010.820; investigate possible
civil violations of these provisions (in
addition to the authority already pro-
vided at paragraph (c)(2)) of this sec-
tion); employ the summons power of
subpart I of this part 1010; issue admin-
istrative rulings under subpart G of
this part 1010; and take any other ac-
tion reasonably necessary for the en-
forcement of these and related provi-
sions, including pursuit of injunctions.

§1010.820 Civil penalty.

(a) For any willful violation, com-
mitted on or before October 12, 1984, of
any reporting requirement for financial
institutions under this chapter or of
any recordkeeping requirements of
§§1010.311, 1010.313, 1020.315, 1021.311 or
1021.313, the Secretary may assess upon
any domestic financial institution, and
upon any partner, director, officer, or
employee thereof who willfully partici-
pates in the violation, a civil penalty
not to exceed $1,000.

(b) For any willful violation com-
mitted after October 12, 1984 and before
October 28, 1986, of any reporting re-
quirement for financial institutions
under this chapter or of the record-
keeping requirements of §1010.420, the
Secretary may assess upon any domes-
tic financial institution, and upon any
partner, director, officer, or employee
thereof who willfully participates in
the violation, a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed $10,000.

(c) For any willful violation of any
recordkeeping requirement for finan-
cial institutions, except violations of
§1010.420, under this chapter, the Sec-
retary may assess upon any domestic
financial institution, and upon any
partner, director, officer, or employee
thereof who willfully participates in
the violation, a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed $1,000.

(d) For any failure to file a report re-
quired under §1010.340 or for filing such
a report containing any material omis-
sion or misstatement, the Secretary
may assess a civil penalty up to the
amount of the currency or monetary
instruments transported, mailed or
shipped, less any amount forfeited
under §1010.830.
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§1010.830

(e) For any willful violation of
§1010.314 committed after January 26,
1987, the Secretary may assess upon
any person a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed the amount of coins and currency
involved in the transaction with re-
spect to which such penalty is imposed.
The amount of any civil penalty as-
sessed under this paragraph shall be re-
duced by the amount of any forfeiture
to the United States in connection
with the transaction for which the pen-
alty was imposed.

(f) For any willful violation com-
mitted after October 27, 1986, of any re-
porting requirement for financial insti-
tutions under this chapter (except
§1010.350, §1010.360 or §1010.420), the
Secretary may assess upon any domes-
tic financial institution, and upon any
partner, director, officer, or employee
thereof who willfully participates in
the violation, a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed the greater of the amount (not to
exceed $100,000) involved in the trans-
action or $25,000.

(g) For any willful violation com-
mitted after October 27, 1986, of any re-
quirement of §1010.350, §1010.360 or
§1010.420, the Secretary may assess
upon any person, a civil penalty:

(1) In the case of a violation of
§1010.360 involving a transaction, a
civil penalty not to exceed the greater
of the amount (not to exceed $100,000)
of the transaction, or $25,000; and

(2) In the case of a violation of
§1010.350 or §1010.420 involving a failure
to report the existence of an account or
any identifying information required
to be provided with respect to such ac-
count, a civil penalty not to exceed the
greater of the amount (not to exceed
$100,000) equal to the balance in the ac-
count at the time of the violation, or
$25,000.

(h) For each negligent violation of
any requirement of this chapter, com-
mitted after October 27, 1986, the Sec-
retary may assess upon any financial
institution a civil penalty not to ex-
ceed $500.

§1010.830 Forfeiture of currency or
monetary instruments.

Any currency or other monetary in-
struments which are in the process of
any transportation with respect to
which a report is required under

31 CFR Ch. X (7-1-13 Edition)

§1010.340 are subject to seizure and for-
feiture to the United States if such re-
port has not been filed as required in
§1010.360, or contains material omis-
sions or misstatements. The Secretary
may, in his sole discretion, remit or
mitigate any such forfeiture in whole
or in part upon such terms and condi-
tions as he deems reasonable.

§1010.840 Criminal penalty.

(a) Any person who willfully violates
any provision of Title I of Public Law
91-508, or of this chapter authorized
thereby may, upon conviction thereof,
be fined not more than $1,000 or be im-
prisoned not more than 1 year, or both.
Such person may in addition, if the
violation is of any provision authorized
by Title I of Public Law 91-508 and if
the violation is committed in further-
ance of the commission of any viola-
tion of Federal law punishable by im-
prisonment for more than 1 year, be
fined not more than $10,000 or be im-
prisoned not more than 5 years, or
both.

(b) Any person who willfully violates
any provision of Title II of Public Law
91-508, or of this chapter authorized
thereby, may, upon conviction thereof,
be fined not more than $250,000 or be
imprisoned not more than 5 years, or
both.

(c) Any person who willfully violates
any provision of Title II of Public Law
91-508, or of this chapter authorized
thereby, where the violation is either

(1) Committed while violating an-
other law of the United States, or

(2) Committed as part of a pattern of
any illegal activity involving more
than $100,000 in any 12-month period,
may, upon conviction thereof, be fined
not more than $500,000 or be imprisoned
not more than 10 years, or both.

(d) Any person who knowingly makes
any false, fictitious or fraudulent
statement or representation in any re-
port required by this chapter may,
upon conviction thereof, be fined not
more than $10,000 or be imprisoned not
more than 5 years, or both.

§1010.850 Enforcement authority with
respect to transportation of cur-
rency or monetary instruments.

(a) If a customs officer has reason-

able cause to believe that there is a
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